# TO UNDERSTAND IRISH MILLENNIALS PERCEPTION OF CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY IN RELATION TO A COMPANY'S IMAGE.

PHILLIP PRECIOUS MUKHUNA

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of a Master of Science Management degree. National College of Ireland

Submitted to the National College of Ireland – School of Business August 2019

# ABSTRACT

Purpose - As corporate social responsibility issues continue to take centre stage in modern business and as companies continue to incorporate CSR programmes in their strategies, this paper investigates the link between CSR and corporate image. This is explored by focusing on the perceptions of Irish millennials who literature has described as an influential generation but yet literature offers little on their expectations on issues concerning CSR and corporate reputation.

Design/ methodology/ approach – A qualitative study was conducted were ten interviews with Irish millennials was undertaken in order to gain more insights on CSR and corporate reputation issues. Data was analysed using thematic analysis which enabled the discovery of themes and sub themes.

Findings – Irish millennials interviewed agreed of the important role that CSR plays in a company's image. However participants also agreed that other factors plays a part when determining a corporate reputation. Themes like philanthropic aspect and CSR benefits were discovered amongst some others. Process was suggested to be a key element in company reputation besides people, planet and profit as suggested in literature.

Originality/value - This paper adds to the body of knowledge by providing an insight into CSR and corporate reputation issues from an Irish millennial perspective as most studies concerning millennials are based on American millennials.

Key words: Corporate social responsibility (CSR), corporate image and company image.

Submission of Thesis and Dissertation

National College of Ireland

Research Student's Declaration Form

(Thesis/Author Declaration Form)

Name:	Phillip P. Mukhuna
Student Number:	17157030

Degree for which thesis is submitted: Master of Science Management

Material submitted for award

(a)I declare that the work has been composed by myself.

(b) I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged.

(c) My thesis will be included in electronic format in the College Institutional Repository TRAP (thesis reports and projects).

(d) I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been used in any other submission for an academic award.

Signature of research student:

Date:

PHILLIP P. MUKHUNA

AUGUST 2019

## Submission of Thesis to Norma Smurfit Library

#### National College of Ireland

Student name: Pl	nillip P. Mukhuna	Student n	umber: 17157030
School Course: S	chool of Business	Course:	MSc mgt. 2018-2019
Degree to be awa	arded: Master of Science Ma	nagement	
Title of Thesis:	To understand Irish millennials perception on corporate social responsibility in relation to a company's image.		

One hard bound copy of your thesis will be lodged in the Norma Smurfit Library and will be available for consultation. The electronic copy will be accessible in TRAP (<u>http://trap.ncirl.ie/</u>), the National College of Ireland's Institutional Repository. In accordance with normal academic library practice all theses lodged in the National College of Ireland Institutional Repository (TRAP) are made available on open access.

I agree to a hard bound copy of my thesis being available for consultation in the library. I also agree to an electronic copy of my thesis being made publicly available on the National College of Ireland's Institutional Repository TRAP.

Signature of Candidate: Phillip P. Mukhuna

For completion by the School:

The aforementioned thesis was received by:

Date:

iv

# Dedication

This dedication is to my parents and my siblings for their constant support. Thanks for your enduring support and love.

This one is for you Brian sr. & Mavis!!

# Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to all the participants who took time out of their busy schedules to engage with this study, you are all appreciated.

A special thank you goes to my supervisor, Dr Conor Nolan, for your availability, advice and encouragement throughout this journey. Thanks also to all the lectures, and staff of NCI who played an important role over the course of my studies. MSc management class of 2018-2019, thanks a lot for your encouragement guys.

Finally, I would not have completed this course if not for the steadfast encouragement and support of my family and friends, love you guys.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

# Contents

ABSTRACT	ii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
CHAPTER 1- INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2 – LITERATURE REVIEW	4
CHAPTER 3 –RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	17
CHAPTER 4 – RESULTS	24
CHAPTER 5 – DISCUSSION	
REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	48
APPENDIX ONE - CONSENT FORM	48
APPENDIX TWO - INFORMATION SHEET	50
APPENDIX THREE- RESEARCH QUESTIONAIRE	52

## **CHAPTER 1- INTRODUCTION**

## **1.1 INTRODUCTION**

Modern business organisations wish to build synergy between their businesses and philanthropic activities because of the ever rising public concern over social and ecological issues (Kanta, Ramana and Mallikarjuna 2014). Issues concerning the sustainability of the environment, ethics and other social related issues are of greater importance to the global market and organisations (Harun, Prybutok and Prybutok, 2018). At the heart of this are millennials who are showing a deep sensitivity towards CSR issues (Klimkiewicz and Oltra, 2017). In today's marketing driven organisations, it is becoming quite obvious that gone are the days when businesses were being built on philosophies that maximised shareholder value and maximising profits only. Such companies are now seen as a recipe for disaster. Nowadays a lot of marketing driven organisations are being guided by professional ethical norms and values, (Guckian et al., 2018). Although a lot has been written and researched about business ethics or corporate responsibility, there is still a gap that needs to be understood on how Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) activities influence consumer perception (Tinker, Barnes and Wilson 2017). The y generation (millennials), consisting of over two billion people worldwide are becoming the world's most generational cohort because of their consumer spending growth and overall economic prospects, (Rocker, 2017). This generation is also mostly engaged in a lot of CSR activities as they have become of age at a time of difficult economic and social disruption, (Delaney, 2016). This has given millennials a different outlook and set of attitudes and behaviour than any other generation before them. Therefore there is a need to find out more from this particular group on how they view CSR and what they expect from companies as their influence cannot be underrated by organisations.

A lot of scandals like environmental disasters, labour exploitation, product recalls and the way in which companies have reacted to such scandals, have been reported in different literature, (Comyns, 2016). Such literature details how different organisations caught up in different CSR scandals have experienced reputational consequences (Beder 2002; Firestein 2006). Scholars and business analysts have often defined reputation as the most competitive advantage that a company can have (Deephoue 2000). Some scholars even identifying corporate reputation as being the most critical and enduring asset that a company can possess, (Olmedo-Cituentes et al., 2014).

However research on the relationship between CSR and corporate reputation has been inconclusive as people's perspective and moderating factors continue to change with time (Moderan and Garcia 2016). Identifying this gap in literature Caracuel et al., (2017) encourages for continuous research on the relationship of these two factors with different modifying factors. Noting the importance of Millennials as discussed above, this paper tries to add to the body of literature by trying to understand the perspective of Irish millennials on the linkage between CSR and corporate reputation. As Sum (2017) observed that issues to do with CSR is not a one size fits all format thereby encouraging research based on each community or culture.

# 1.2 RESEARCH GAP

There is a gap in literature as scholars and professionals agree that results into the linkage of CSR and corporate reputation are inconclusive (Modorran and Garcia 2016). Tinker, Barnes and Wilson (2017), identifies a gap in literature on how CSR activities influence consumer perception on corporate reputation and thus encourages for more research into the topic.

As observed by del Brio and Lizaezaburu (2017), few researchers have investigated the link between CSR and corporate reputation and more so from a millennial perspective. Deng and Xu (2017), identifying this gap, requests for further research in this area as many issues concerning CSR and Company image are not clear and deserves more investigation. Sum (2017) also calls for continuous research on issues concerning CSR as they are not a one size fits all format. So hopefully this study will add to the body of knowledge on issues concerning CSR and corporate reputation from an Irish millennial perspective.

Most papers on the relationship between CSR and company image used quantitative methods, Hillenbrand and Money (2007), Siltaoja 2006): thus Gazzolla (2018) highlighting the lack of significant detail on the link between CSR and company image and calling for more detailed research on the topic.

## **1.3 RESEARCH QUESTIONS**

(i) How do Irish millennials understand CSR and what expectations do they hold on organisations?

(ii) What are the factors that influence a company's reputation and are they related to CSR?

(iii) How do Irish millennials relate to companies with good or bad CSR reputation?

## **1.4 RESEARCH OUTLINE**

The following chapters will be outlined in this research paper:

Chapter one: involves a brief introduction of the topic and identification of the research gap.

Chapter two: include a detailed analysis of literature on issues concerning CSR, corporate reputation and millennials. The rationale behind conducting this research and the aim and objectives of this research will be highlighted.

Chapter three: Will detail the methodology used in collecting data and the reasons for the selection of the methods. Ethical considerations and reliability issues will also be discussed.

Chapter four: Will involve a results section where a logical flow to findings will be highlighted with key findings.

Chapter five: Involves the discussion section where findings observed in chapter four, will be linked back to literature. Important findings will be highlighted and linked back to previous studies. This chapter will also offer a conclusion to the study and recommendations for future research and implications of the study will be discussed.

# **CHAPTER 2 – LITERATURE REVIEW**

# 2.1 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Corporate social responsibility is a topic that has undergone through extensive research by academics over the past years but yet still there is not a universal definition of CSR (Okoye, 2009). Bowen (1953), regarded as the fore father of CSR, defines CSR as the pursuance of obligations by businessmen in order to fulfil those policies that will help them to make policies and decisions that are valuable in terms of objectivity and values of society. Bowen was recognising the need for Managers to be able to take responsibility for the good of the public. Drucker (1954), enhances this point by stating that all decisions made by Managers need to promote the good of the public by contributing to its stability, harmony and strength.

Zemigala (2017), says the majority of terms that do describe CSR, refers to those voluntary social and environmental aspects of an organisation. These terms can be divided into two parts namely internal and external activities, (Gasparski, 2003). Internal activities are all the pro workforce activities and external activities detailing all the actions that are addressed to partners, local community, public authorities and the ecology. Zemigala further refers to CSR as companies being responsible for their impact on society by being sustainable, competitive and innovative towards the economy and individual enterprises.

Although corporate social responsibility has become popular within most government, companies and organisations all over the world, it has its fair share of critiques. According to Galant (2017), some economists argue that CSR stands in the way of business prosperity as the sole purpose of a business is to maximise profit making. Some philosophers see CSR as a social enslavement tool and some Sociologists see it as an element of corporate management thus there being no need for it to be singled out as an entity or a subject matter (Sum, 2007). However literature encourages the continuous research between CSR and other factors as CSR practices do not fit into a one size fits all format, there is need to add to the body of literature by trying to understand how CSR affects different communities (Kunz, 2018).

# 2.2 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY THEORIES

Literature has offered us many different theories of CSR with the conception of CSR having a wider diversity of topics and many that still need to be further explored (Matten and Moon, 2008). However, the common view being that all these views and theories encompassing three main activities namely economic, social and environmental. All these addressing issues concerning the 3Ps namely people, profit and planet (Cuervo-cazurra 2018). In line of this background, we look at three CSR

theories that collectively encompass the 3Ps but developed throughout the past different decades.

# 2.3 FRIEDMAN SHAREHOLDER THEORY

Friedman (1970) stated in his shareholder theory that the responsibility of any business is to maximise profits so that it earns a good return on its investment whilst being a good corporate citizen by obeying the law and nothing more or less. Friedman argued that to go further than this, was going beyond the mandate of a business. This school of thought has caused a disagreement between academics and the business community alike. Hermans et al., (1993) supports this theory by stressing that managers act as agents for shareholders therefore they are morally and legally bound to protect shareholders interests by striving to maximise employer's wealth. Having the same outlook is Levitt (1993), who adds that profits can be attained by aggressive competitive strategies through whatever way the managers decide, as long as it is lawful.

However Jahn and Brul, (2018), accuse the Shareholder theory as being incoherent and setting up low ethical standards for managers. They feel by managers only striving to return profit on investment, they neglect other core responsibilities of an organisation by not being responsible to other stakeholders that also play a part in their success. Academics like James and Rassekh (2000), dismisses this theory as being tolerant to companies that are involved in immoral practices in the pursuit of maximising profits. Li and Zhang (2010), faults the theory for focusing on outcomes and paying little attention to factors that determine the extent of CSR in most organisations.

However despite the comments Friedman made on CSR, Cosans (2009), feels he never gave a proper systematic summary of his views on CSR or the moral obligations that managers need to be assigned with when they are in pursuit of profit. For this reason, Jahn and Bruhl (2018), feels it could be the reason why there are different approaches and definitions to this theory. In trying to address some of the criticisms of the shareholder theory, Edward Freeman developed the stakeholder theory.

# 2.4 STAKEHOLDER THEORY

Freeman (1984), in his stakeholder theory, stresses of the morals and values in an organisation when defining CSR. He states that the value of a business is not only to create value for shareholders alone as defined by Friedman above, but also to extend that value to other relevant stakeholders as well because they are an important part of any business. Clarkson (1995) defines stakeholders as any group of people that have any interest or claim in an organisation. He emphasises the point that businesses can only survive if they utilise their skills by creating valuable products that do satisfy its stakeholders namely its suppliers, customers, investors, government and employees, (Peloza et al., 2012).

The stakeholder theory is characterized by its high levels of co-operation, trust levels and the continual sharing of information between the organisation and all its stakeholders, (Jones, Harrison and Felps 2018). Thus it has become a mainstay in ethics and management theory for the past decade as it has involved the interests of other players in business, (Ortis and Strudler 2002).

As much as the stakeholder theory has gained popularity, there is still a gap in literature on the costs that are involved when an organisation is pursuing this policy, or can an organisation satisfy all its stakeholders expectations?(Jones, Harrison and Felps 2018). According to Ortis and Sandler (2002), this theory offers a problem in trying to find out how a business can sustain itself if it tries to meet all the concerns of its stakeholders. Therefore recommending a reciprocal stakeholder theory where all the other various stakeholders also consider the obligations that they have to the organisation. Carroll (1991), suggests a way in which an organisation can conduct business by taking into consideration both the shareholder theory and the stakeholder theory by coming up with the Carrols pyramid of CSR.

# 2.5 CARROL'S PYRAMID OF CSR

Carrols pyramid of CSR tries to offer a way in which business can be conducted in a profitable, legal, ethical way and at the same time also supporting the community in which it operates in by putting emphasis on the importance on corporate action and the implementation of their social role (Carroll 1991). The model encourages businesses to respond to all aspects of the social world and these being economic, legal, ethical and philanthropic obligations thus the construction of the four tiered pyramid (Claydon, 2008).



Figure 1.1 – The pyramid of Corporate Social Responsibility (Carroll 1991).

This four tiered pyramid, is one of the most cited in CSR literature, (Geva, 2008), as it does represent CSR as a multi layered concept that consists of four inter related concepts that deal with issues concerning a business and the environment that it operates in at the same time (Reeve and Pincin, 2018). Other scholars look at the model as being a mediating factor between the shareholder theory and stakeholder theory as it is durable, simple and easy to understand and has an intuitively appealing logic (Pinkston and Carroll 1994).

According to Carroll (2004), these four responsibilities, have been developed in order to cover all views of CSR and what stakeholders do expect from organisations both economically and socially. For these responsibilities to be useful and implemented successfully, it depends on the size of the company, the industry it operates in and its economic circumstances. However Nastiti and Sukuharsono (2017), stresses the need that companies need to fulfil their economic, legal, ethical and philanthropic duties if they are to achieve community demands and acceptance and not only maximising profits as the shareholder theory stated.

Despite that the model has been durable and widely cited in CSR literature because of its simplicity, easy to understand and intuitively appealing logic (Crane and Matten 2004) it still has its fair share of criticism. Geva (2008) questions whether applying these responsibilities in the corporate world in the advised order can work universally and match all company sizes. As observed by Crane and Matten, whilst most American and European companies emphasized on economic responsibility as being the foundation of their businesses, some countries like Germany and Sweden ranked legal responsibility as being the foundation of their businesses. In most African countries whilst economic responsibility remained the base, it was followed by philanthropic responsibility and not legal responsibility. Campbell (2007) argues that the CSR pyramid only suits those companies that are financially strong because they will have enough resources to fulfil all the four tiers of the pyramid. Campbell argues that companies that are economically weak are less likely to engage in CSR activities because they have fewer resources to be able to invest time money and effort into CSR activities. Furthermore Claydon (2008) faults the CSR pyramid as failing to explain how a healthy bottom line can ensure the achievement of CSR or vice versa.

# 2.6 THEORIES AND DEFINITIONS SUMMARY

As can be observed through the different definitions and theories of corporate social responsibility, there is no final consensus on the definition of CSR, (Freeman and Hasnaoui, 2008). Despite many attempts by different scholars to define CSR, there still seems to be no universal definition and most definitions seem to be vague and ambiguous, (Schwartz and Saiia, 2012). According to Matten and Moon (2008), there is no need to keep looking for a universal definition of CSR since the term denotes the complex and the ever changing relationship between businesses and societies. According to Campbell et al., (2012), CSR seems to be affected and

influenced by a change in different variables like corporate culture and competition amongst many others. However further studies and research will be required in order to gain a deeper understanding of these relationships and how they relate to individual communities, (Campbell et al., 2012).

The above definitions and theories also show the evolution that CSR continues to undergo over different decades. It is for this reason that companies need to continuously redefine their CSR policies as CSR and people's expectations are continuously evolving, (Hamidu, Haron and Amran, 2015).

# 2.7 CSR AND CORPORATE REPUTATION

Literature has a general consensus on how reputation is valuable to an organisation, (Fatima, Rahman and Khan 2015). Corporate reputation can be described as the way in which different stakeholders evaluate a company (Deephouse, 2000). This can be described in terms of how good or bad a company's reputation is (Roberts and Dowling, 2002). According to Lai et al., (2010), corporate reputation is the overall impression that reflects the collective perception of stakeholders and the ability and intent by organisations to meet their expectations and demands (Lin-Hi and Blumberg, 2018).

Branco and Rodrigues (2006) describe corporate reputation as being a valuable and an intangible asset of any organisation thus the need for it to be safeguarded. According to Peroza et al., (2012), many stakeholders from customers, employees, investors to purchasing officers do regard corporate reputation as being an important factor in their decision making process before dealing with an organisation. When stakeholders think that a company has a good reputation, they develop trust on the company and this is the basis for most organisations survival as it creates loyalty which is vital for business, (Hillenbrand and Money, 2007). Matuleviciene and Stravinskienne (2016), adds that the long term success of any business depends on the relationship between the organisation and its stakeholders as this relationship will determine the future financial success, sustainability and its overall reputation.

Yadav, (2018), states that the significance of a good reputation has continuously risen in the global business world over the years. This has led to consumers to use company reputation as one of the important determinants when they are evaluating products being offered on a market. It is therefore important for companies and organisations not to down play the value of their reputation (Hsu, 2012). Many organisations are enhancing their reputation by being involved in different CSR activities and there has been a lot of empirical evidence on how organisations can use CSR to improve the reputation of their organisation. According to Deephouse, (2000), CSR needs to be considered as a form of strategic investment which can be viewed as a means of building reputation or maintaining it. However there is still a gap in literature on the effects of not practicing CSR to an organisation and its reputation (Lin and Blumberg, 2018). Gazzola (2018), whilst in agreement that CSR

enhances corporate reputation, feels there is lack of significant literature to link CSR and corporate risk thus encouraging for further research.

Sohn and Lariscy, (2015) argues that practicing CSR will not save a company's reputation in times of a scandal. He argues that people often overlook the positive CSR strides an organisation has had before the tragedy but rather concentrate on the shortfall at hand. They further argue that companies need not practice CSR to enhance their reputation but rather to fulfil the obligation that they have to their stakeholders. Pradhan (2016) feels it is the way how a company responds to social pressure that will determine its reputation. A bad reaction will directly affect its market value by pushing away investors and harming the reputation of the firm and likewise the way it reacts to a particular scandal, is the way its reputation will be created.

Different studies have studied this relationship between CSR and company image but the results have been inconclusive (Modorran and Garcia (2016). As Caracuel et al; (2017) states, there is always a change of the mediating and moderating factors when it comes to the measurement of the relationship. This enables the continuous research to add to the body of literature as we try to understand the linkage between corporate social responsibility and company image with a different variable being millennials.

# 2.7.1 CSR AND BAD CORPORATE IMAGE

In the wake of the financial crisis of 2008 that led to the melt down of global financial markets, corporate scandals and the worst economic disaster since the great depression of 1929,(Leon and Moyo 2015), deep questions and concerns have been raised pertaining to trust issues between consumers and the general business world, (Kearns 2017). This has been so because during the economic down turn millions of people lost their homes, jobs and much of their savings which arguably most people put the blame on private sector greed which was centred at profit maximisation at all cost, (Page, 2013).

This lead to consumers having trust issues with the corporate world (Wilkins and Campos, 2011). Making things worse some of the top companies that were seen as leaders in CSR like WorldCom and Enron, were caught up in issues were they used poor accounting loopholes to hide billions of dollars in debt from failed deals in order to balance their books and seem like they were making profits (Taylor, 2019). More recently, consumers have also been affected by the Volkswagen fraudulent engineering scandal that involved software modification on their turbo charged direct injections diesel engine vehicles in order to evade emission regulations (Holten, 2019).

All these scandals by leading corporations still signify the gap between words and action; do companies really care about stakeholders or CSR (Paddington, 2019). Are organisations involved in CSR to do good to their stakeholders or are they using it as

a means of maximising profits? Do consumers continue to support such organisations? What is the general outlook and expectation of consumers in the wake of such scandals? According to Lin (2018), CSR will continuously be important to the corporate world and much more to those with bad reputations because they can use CSR to fix their reputation. However, there is a gap in literature on consumer's attitudes to companies with a bad CSR reputation. Lin-Hi and Miller (2013), defines companies with bad CSR reputation as those organisations involved in intentional deception and those companies doing good but still not avoiding some bad malpractices.

Since CSR is a self-regulating mechanism where most businesses monitors and ensures their own active compliance with socio ethical standards and norms,(Mir and Shah 2018), there is still a challenge when it comes to bad CSR in most organisations as these companies continue to cherry pick CSR initiatives, (Confino 2019). There continues to be irresponsible behaviour and practices in some firms and this despite some of these companies being exposed by the media for their irresponsible behaviour (Deephouse, 2000).

Although CSR has gained momentum in Ireland over the past years, observers, consumer groups and the Irish government feels that Irish companies could do more in CSR initiatives (Mc Greevey, 2019). A number of studies show that Corporate Ireland is lagging behind European standards in terms of CSR activities engagement, (Holten, 2019). According to Gucklan et al.,(2019), there is need to further understand what role consumers can play in the wake of these corporate scandals as they play an instrumental role in determining the financial success of corporations by choosing to engage with them or not. This can be done by trying to understand how consumers engage presently and in the future with companies that have been caught in international corporate deception like that engaged by VW in the emissions case, (Phau et al., 2018).

# 2.7.2 CSR AND GOOD CORPORATE IMAGE

Despite some organisations being caught up in intentional corporate deception, others like Microsoft are taking a lead in CSR initiatives. Microsoft seems to be one of the leading organisations to be following the Carrols pyramid model by addressing all the four responsibilities and still having a net income of \$ 15 billion in the past 17 years (Telegraph, 2019).

Another organisation that applies good CSR is Intel Corporation. During the global recession of 2008, the company lost 42% off its share price and 90% of its net income, (de Gooyert et al 2017). Yet days after releasing its fourth- quarter losses in 2008, the company announced a renewed commitment to education and development in less developed countries by committing \$100 million towards global education programmes (Delevigne, 2009). This type of commitment to socially

responsible activities is not what most analysts would expect of a company that is confronting significant financial losses, (Bansal, Jiang and Jung 2015).

In Ireland, the Irish government launched its first CSR plan that is entitled good for business, good for the community; Irelands national plan on CSR (Kearns, 2017). This plan was established in recognition of the positive impacts that CSR brings to businesses and in trying to build confidence and trust between customers and the business community that was lost during the financial crisis of 2008. However there is still a gap in literature on the effects of what might happen to those companies that are practising CSR once they are embroiled in irresponsible behaviour (Sohn and Lariscy 2015). Gazzola, (2018) recommend the need for further research as the models for operating global business are continuously changing because of climate change, globalisation and social inequality. Rocker (2017), observing that millennials are the generation that is taking a leading role in calling for corporations to take a responsibility for their environmental and social impacts.

## 2.7.3 MILLENNIALS

Millennials or Generation Y as they are sometimes called are those people born between1980 and 2000, (Miller, 2011). However when it comes to the definition of millennials, there is no general consensus in regards to the period on which it starts. Other definitions indicate them as those born between the years of 1980 – 1995, Elderman (2010), 1982 – 1994, (Kravounis, 2015) or 1982 – 2005, (Howe and Strauss 2007). However for this paper we will consider those born between 1980 and 2005 as they encompass all the years identified by different scholars.

Global millennials now account for almost 30% of the world population and they are becoming the largest consumer group in history because of their size and earning potential, (Fry, 2018). This generation constitutes the most educated, informed and inter connected in history thus making them highly desirable to employers but a challenge to satisfy by companies, (Morton, 2002). This is because millennials look for additional information about products and the companies producing them thus making the jobs of marketers and organisations more difficult, (Bondarouk and Olivas – Lujan, 2013).

## 2.7.4 MILLENNIALS AND CSR

Millennials are a generation that is more engaged in CSR activities than any other generation before them because they were born in a time of both economic and social turmoil thus giving them a different outlook on life than other generations, (Delaney, 2016). This generation has grown up in a time that has been rife with stories of organisations causing the depletion of the ozone layer because of manufactured chemicals and relentless financial scandals caused by unethical organisations, (Cone, 2015). Thus millennials as a generation are taking a leading role in making the society they live in a much better place to live in and do feel strongly about it, (Aidhi 2005).

This generation of civic minded individuals, do believe that it is their responsibility to make this world a better place and they also do believe that companies and organisations have a responsibility to join them in this effort, (Mc Glone, Spain and Mc Glone, 2011). According to Delaney (2016), millennials are a generation that is deep rooted with innovation and technological interventions as a way of life and like to indulge in CSR activities that are not short term but have long term and well defined objectives. This group shows a deep sensitivity towards ethical and CSR issues, (Howe et al., 2000). Millennials belief in fairness, equal rights and trying to make the world a better place, have them expecting to make different choices when dealing with organisations based on the companies ethical and CSR (Deloitte, 2014).

# 2.7.5 MILLENNIALS DIFFERENCE TO OTHER GENERATIONS

According to Delaney, (2006) Millennials are different to other generations in that they are not looking for programmes that have been tried and tested before; they are a generation that enjoys the unknown and like to be challenged. A generation that is ambitious connected, innovative and expressive that is looking for causes to support because they want to feel that they are making a change to the world, (Roker 2017). As a result, it is important for companies to uncover their distinctive passion points and speak to their personal driver if they are to engage them. With this in mind, companies need to create unique CSR activities that inspire this generation because if not, this generation is prepared to punish or reward an organisation based on its commitment to social causes (Cone, 2015).

Millennials are also different to other past generations in their use and experience of technology. They are considered as digital natives whose digital immersion has been so intense that different studies have found them to be leaders in the use of technology and has embraced the use of technology than any other previous generation, (Tapscott, 2009). Technology being a very important element of the modern business world as it has changed the way business used to operate before and it affects business culture and helps in efficiency, (Parasursman and Grewal, 2000). Technology has also brought in the use of social media which helps instant communication and millennials are at the fore front of this as they are heavy social media users and are influenced by global trends than local trends unlike past generations, (Morton, 2002). Millennials are also using social media to garner product related information and to share it or to influence other users, (Barnes, 2015).

# 2.7.6 WHY COMPANIES SHOULD NOT IGNORE MILLENNIALS

Millennials are fast becoming the largest share of the global workforce and are bringing into the work place a change into the old ways of working by influencing organisations to be environmentally friendly and socially responsible, (Smith, 2008). According to Fry (2016), millennials expect those companies that they do work for, to

incorporate CSR permanently in their strategic plans and demonstrate external social values as part of the organisations contribution to the community. Winograd and Hais (2014), estimates that by 2025, this generation will make up half of the global workforce and will have the power to effect change on societal issues and will hold corporations to having social conscience. Thus it is important for organisations to understand this generation and their perspective so that they meet their expectations.

However there is still a gap in literature on how organisations can meet this new approach to business that is spearheaded by millennials and still operate profitably (Gazzola, 2018). Diamantopoloue et al., (2016), attributes young consumers and in particular millennials to being receptive to CSR activities and initiatives whilst Perez and del Bosque (2018), encourages for more research on this particular group and what they expect from organisations because literature offers us little information as much literature is about American millennials.

# 2.8 SUMMARY

As observed throughout the above literature review, both academics and practitioners have contradicting views on CSR, but almost agree on its importance to the organisation. This has led to most organisations incorporating CSR initiatives in to their companies' strategies. However there is debate in literature whether these initiatives are done for the betterment of the shareholder to maximise profits or the stakeholder to be a good citizen? The past financial crisis and the recent scandals that have involved top companies that were seen as being leaders in CSR initiatives has resurfaced this debate amongst both academicians and practitioners alike. Customers alike are now demanding more from organisations and taking a leading role in this initiative are the millennials.

However in order to address these issues, there is need to first understand how these millennials understand CSR (Campbell 2012), what expectations do they have on organisations and why are they more concerned with CSR issues (Fry, 2016). IN trying to address this, (Sum, 2017) encourages for research to be conducted in different areas concerning CSR as CSR issues are not a one size fits all. The other factor that has been encouraged for research is on the factors that influences a company's reputation. Gazzolla (2018) observed that these factors are continuously changing and there is need to find out if CSR issues affect an organisations reputation.

# 2.9 RATIONALE FOR CONDUCTING RESEARCH

In recent years academics and industry professionals have become more interested in trying to find out how concepts of CSR relates to corporate reputation (Fombrun 2005). In part the reason for this is that elements of CSR have been viewed as key drivers for reputation (Hillenbrand and Money, 2007).Some scholars suggests that antecedents of a good reputation includes companies embracing CSR standards (Fombrum 2005). Melo and Garido-Morgado (2012) suggests that CSR is becoming a key driver of corporate reputation as consumers are holding corporates responsible.

At the centre of this are Millennials who are becoming an influential economic group who tend to have a strong tendency to ethical consumption than other generations and rewards those companies that give back to society (Nielsen, 2014). Furthermore issues to do with CSR and company reputation are continuously evolving and changing over time as stakeholders expectations continues to change and thus requiring the continuous research between these two factors, (del Brio and Lizarzaburu 2017). This reason validates the conducting of this research as issues concerning CSR and company image are being incorporated in the strategies of modern business in the wake of recent corporate scandals as earlier discussed in the literature review of this paper. According to Saunders et al., (2016), research that is conducted based on current events is more likely to be academically valid than other older studies.

There is still a gap in literature in trying to understand how corporate social responsibility activities influence consumer perception on corporate reputation issues (Tinker, Barnes and Wilson 2017). Formankova et al., (2019), observes that despite millennials being an important and influential generation, there is limited literature pertaining to their approach to corporate social responsibility. According to del Brio and Lizarzaburu, (2017), few researchers have investigated the linkage between CSR and corporate reputation together and more so from a Millennial perspective. Sum (2017), also encourages for the continuous research between CSR and other factors in different societies as CSR practices are not a one size fits all format. Each society is encouraged to define how it relates to CSR and organisations need to pay particular attention. Furthermore Gazzolla (2008) identifies the lack of significant literature about CSR, corporate image and millennials.

It is for these gaps identified in literature that this paper will try to investigate and add to the body of literature by trying to investigate the research question which is: To understand Irish millennials perception of CSR in relation to a company's image. Although literature offers us minimal material on the linkage between CSR and corporate reputation, most of the material has been documented based on American studies and not much on the Irish context. This paper hopes to add to the body of literature by documenting the opinions and perceptions of Irish millennials as Sum (2017) observed that issues to do with CSR does not require a one size fits all approach.

## 2.10 RESEARCH AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

According to Saunders et al., (2016), it is vital in any research that aims and objectives are clearly set out in order to ensure that the most appropriate

methodologies are chosen after all relevant literature has been reviewed prior to conducting the research.

# 2.11 RESEARCH AIM

This paper aims to explore and discover the perception that Irish millennials have of corporate social responsibility in relation to a company's reputation in regards to the gaps in literature as discussed in the introduction and literature review chapters of this paper. This research paper also aims to add to the body of literature concerning CSR issues and company image from an Irish millennial perspective. Thus the aim of this research is: To investigate how Irish Millennials link CSR and corporate reputation. Based on this aim, the specific research objectives and questions are outlined below.

# 2.12.1 RESEARCH OBJECTIVE ONE

To try and understand how Irish millennials understand or interpret CSR and their expectations on organisations.

Freeman and Hasnaoui (2011), determines there is no consensus on how people understand CSR thus Campbell et al., (2012) calling for further research on how each community understands and interprets CSR.

With millennials demands on corporations increasing (Campbell et al., 2012), Tinker, Barnes and Wilson (2017) calls for the need to investigate their expectations on corporations so that corporations are aware and do not miss out on this influential group. Perez and del Bosque (2018) identify that much literature on CSR and millennials is based on American literature therefore there being a need for different societies to contribute to the body of knowledge before generalising findings. Hopefully this research adds to literature by offering an Irish perspective.

Based on the above, the first research question is: How do Irish millennials understand CSR and what expectations do they hold on organisations?

# 2.12.2 RESEARCH OBJECTIVE TWO

To examine factors that does influence a company's reputation and to further explore the link between CSR and corporate reputation from an Irish Millennials perspective.

As determined by Crane and Matten (2004), many stakeholders around the globe use the Carroll's four tiered pyramid in order to determine a reputation of an organisation. However it was observed that the determinant responsibility was not universal as discussed in literature. This offers a gap in literature as little or no literature has been researched about what determinant Irish millennials use. It would be interesting to find out if they determine a company's reputation by using any of Carroll's four responsibilities or none at all. Modorran and Garcia (2016) observed that despite different research on the link between CSR and company image, the results are still not clear and there is need for more research to be carried. Baraibar-Diez and Sotorrio (2018), encourages for more research on the role of CSR and company image but linking it to different variables. It is for this reason that this research paper attempts to investigate the role CSR plays in a company's image.

Based on the above, the second research question is: What are the factors that influence a company's reputation and are they related to CSR?

# 2.12.3 RESEARCH OBJECTIVE THREE

To investigate how Irish millennials relate to organisations that were once caught up in bad CSR or irresponsible behaviour and to those that have a good CSR reputation.

Guklan et al., (2019) encourages for further research in order to understand how consumers view companies that were once caught up in corporate scandals. Sohn and Lancy (2018), feels there is need to understand how consumers deal with organisations that have a good CSR reputation and if consumers put preference in dealing with these organisations. What if a company has a good CSR reputation but gets involved in an irresponsible behaviour? How would consumers look or deal with the company? Garzolla (2018) observes that literature does not offer us much in trying to answer these questions thereby there being a need for further research.

Based on the above the third research question is: How do Irish millennials relate to companies with good or bad CSR reputation?

# **CHAPTER 3 – RESEARCH METHODOLOGY**

# **3.1 CHAPTER INTRODUCTION**

After analysing and identifying the specific gaps in the literature as has been discussed in chapter 1 and 2 of this paper, this chapter will provide a description of the various primary research methods used in the study. The methodology process used in this paper is in line with the research onion as was presented by Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill (2015), in the research 'Onion' – see figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1 Research onion: Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill (2015)

# 3.2 RESEARCH PHILOSOPHY

Research philosophy is defined as the development of knowledge and the nature of that knowledge, (Sanders, Lewis and Thornhill 2016). It is the starting point of any research, (Bryman and Bell, 2015). Positivism and Interpretivist are mainly the broadly recognised philosophical frameworks of the natural sciences according to (Quinlan et al., 2018). Positivist researchers using scientific quantitative methods whilst interpretivists preferring humanistic qualitative methods and do tend to follow subjective assumptions regarding knowledge, (Saunders et al., 2015).

Thus interpretivist philosophy being suitable for this paper because of its nature of promoting a small sample in depth interviews which aligns itself with the aim of this paper of gaining insight into understanding Irish millennials perceptions of CSR in

relation to a company image other than positivism which would look at quantifying the results.

Despite Saunders et al., (2015), stressing of the importance of the research onion, some academics argue that a research philosophy can only be discussed once a research paradigm has been established, (Mayer, 2015). According to (Kuhn, 62), research paradigm is defined as the set of common beliefs and agreements that are shared between scientists on how problems needs to be understood and shared. Saunders et al., (2016), identifies two major paradigms being ontology and epistemology.

Ontology being referred to assumptions about the nature of reality, (Hesse-Biber and Leavy 2011), whilst epistemology relating to knowledge, what constitute knowledge and the process through which that knowledge is created. According to Saunders et al., (2015), the ontology paradigm includes such approaches as objectivism and subjectivism whilst the epistemology paradigm includes positivist and interpretivist approaches. Being that interpretivist is the philosophy adapted this paper then aligns itself with the epistemology approach. The reason being that there is need to gather, interpret and understand knowledge thus interpretivist epistemology would be appropriate for this papers' objectives. Furthermore the data collected in this research paper will be subjective and not objective reality which could determine the use of positivist quantitative research.

# 3.3 RESEARCH APPROACH

Two commonly used approaches are deductive and inductive (Quinlan, 2011). Deductive being grounded in the epistemology of natural sciences while inductive embedded in social sciences. Saunders et al., (2016) defines the deductive approach as involving the testing of a theoretical proposition by employing a research strategy that is specifically designed for the purpose of its testing. While Frels and Onwuegbuzie (2013), defines the inductive approach as involving the developing of theory as a result of the observation of empirical data.

This research will employ the inductive method as research starts by collecting primary data to explore and draw conclusions from one or more particular facts or pieces of evidence as Bryman and Bell (2011) states that it is the conclusion that explains the facts in an inductive method. Quinlan (2011), states that when employing a qualitative approach and interpretivist framework, the induction approach is typically used in the research process as it allows for small samples and in depth interviews that provides a better understanding to the nature of the issue being addressed. This approach allows for the social reality of the participants own experiences to emerge, thus meaning it is less rigid in terms of research design compared to the deductive approach, (Yin 2014).

## 3.4 RESEARCH DESIGN

Saunders et al., (2016), defines research design as the general plan of determining how the researcher will go about answering the research question(s). Exploratory research method, which is of investigative nature, (Cooper and Schindler, 2014) is going to be employed. This is because of the need to thoroughly investigate and understand Irish millennials in regards to their perception of corporate social responsibility and company reputation. Other methods like quantitative, would not be suitable to gather this information because of its nature of emphasizing on the quantification in the collection and analysis of data which is not the objective of this paper. This will be the sole method of collecting data because it allows for the collection of information or data that is descriptive, personal and extremely subjective thus it cannot be quantified.

The other reason for using the mono qualitative method is that most studies that have been conducted on the link between CSR and company image have predominantly employed quantitative methods that used surveys and quantitative data analysis despite most studies perceiving experience as being an inherently subjective perception. It is for this reason that Deng and Xu, (2017), observed a gap in literature and requesting for a deeper and more insightful analysis on the link between CSR and company image and linking it with different mediating factors and thus a qualitative approach being the best option of gathering data.

Data will be collected using the cross- sectional approach which involves the collection of data over a particular time other than longitudinal approach which involves data collection over an extended period of time, (Robson 2002). The reasoning being that this research paper is time constrained thereby ruling out the longitudinal approach.

# 3.5 DATA COLLECTION

In depth interviews will be the source of data collection for this paper. This is in line with an interpretivist qualitative method of data collection as stated by Quinlan (2011) that data collected in a qualitative research needs to represent non numeric data such as thoughts, ideas, feelings and understanding that cannot be quantified. Although there are a number of ways to conduct an exploratory research like focus groups and observations amongst others, conducting interviews was the method that would deliver best our set objectives. Hiller (2010) attributes interviews to potentially being a more effective way of obtaining more authentic accounts of the participant's experiences over other data collection methods. Saunders et al., (2015), credits interviews as being an effective and useful tool in gathering primary data when seeking new insights or perceptions. All this fits well with our research question of trying to understand Irish millennials CSR perception in relation to a company's image.

# 3.6 TYPE OF INTERVIEW TO BE CARRIED OUT (SEMI-STRUCTURED)

According to Saunders et al., (2016), there are three types of interview format when conducting qualitative research, namely structured, semi structured and unstructured interviews. The main difference being that structured interviews usually have precoded answers, semi structured interviews are non-standardised and unstructured interviews are informal according to (Robson 2011).

Both these interview types are significant depending on how the researcher wants to acquire data and which method best meets the desired aims and objectives of a particular research, (Quinlan 2011). One to one interviews will be conducted unlike group interviews because this paper seeks to understand each individual's perception without the influence of others.

Semi-structured interviews are going to be used in this paper because they accord a set of self-prompt questions that guides the interview and starts with an open ended question then follows respondent tangents of thought with interviewer probes, (Bryman and Bell, 2011). Questions are not going to be fixed as one question might lead to a follow-up question depending on the response the respondent might give. This approach will allow those being interviewed to lead and be able to drive the interview to certain type of information which we had no idea or even discussed in literature. The advantages of such questions is that it allows the interviewer to deviate from the set question list in order to seek more clarity where needed and respondents are able to respond in a way that is best suited to their own personal experiences and perceptions, (Saunders et al., 2015). Structured interviews would not be suitable because of its nature of not allowing deviation and unstructured would not be suitable because it would be difficult to evaluate responses equally and objectively after asking participants different questions.

# 3.7 POPULATION

Cooper and Schindler (2014), defines population as the universe of units from which a sample can be selected. This is the breath from which participants chosen for this study was selected from. Irish millennials born between 1980 and 2005 and based around Dublin will be the population as we will try to cover all the years that define a millennial as observed in the literature review of this paper. By encompassing all the millennial definition, we hope this will represent those who are still in college and those who are in the work place.

# 3.8 SAMPLING

Non-probability sampling method was used in selecting the ten participants involved in this research. This was because this method is associated with qualitative studies (Saunders et al., 2016)and relies on researcher's knowledge and expertise on the subject area to subjectively choose participants, (Singh and Mangat, 2013). Probability sampling would not be ideal for this paper as there was no need for each unit in the population to have a chance of being selected. Although there are many types of non-probability sampling techniques (Saunders et al., 2016), the chosen technique used is convenience sampling. This is because it offers the selection of cases based on ease of accessibility, (Bryman and Bell, 2015). As this paper faces cost and time restraints, convenience non probability seems the ideal method as Coper and Schindler (2014), describes this method as being cost effective and can sometimes be implemented more quickly than probability sampling.

# 3.9 PARTICIPANTS DEMOGRAPHICS

Ten interviews were conducted consisting of equal number of males and females. Furthermore as literature offers us different interpretations of millennials, participants interviewed in this paper covered each generation of millennials (those born in the 80s, 90s and 2000s) so that we can have a fair representation of each generation.

ID	MALE OR FEMALE	MILLENNIAL
		GENERATION
P1	M	80s
P2	Μ	80s
P3	F	80s
P4	M	90s
P5	M	90s
P6	F	90s
P7	F	90s
P8	F	2000s
P9	F	2000s
P10	M	2000s

Table 3.1 Participants demographics

# 3.10 PILOT STUDY

Prior to the commencement of interviews with participants, a limited trial interview process was conducted with two participants to check the research tool (interview questions) on issues concerning clarity and interpretation as recommended by (Robson, 2011: Quinlan 2011).

Resulting from the pilot sample, it was observed that the use of the full name corporate social responsibility was recommended other than using the abbreviation CSR. This was because some participants seemed not to be clear with the abbreviation than the full name.

## 3.11 ANALYSIS

Thematic analysis approach was used in analysing data collected from the interviews. This is an approach where common themes were identified from the amount of data collected and tried to find common relationships among the words of different subjective individuals. Saunders et al., (2015), defines thematic analysis as an analytical technique which is useful when there is a large amount of qualitative data and the researcher is trying to find relationships amongst words of subjective individuals.

Braun and Clarke (2006) guideline to thematic analysis method was followed and the process started by data familiarisation, transcription of verbal data, generation of initial codes and the search for themes. This process involved the discovery of what was of interest in the data and then data was coded and collated forming a list of different codes that was identified across the data set. The identified themes were then reviewed and refined before being defined and named before the final analysis.

The analysis process involved the identification of themes being correlated with the research questions of this study and further interpreted with reference to secondary data as discussed in the literature review of this paper. Braun and Clarke (2006), recommends that in thematic analysis that has an interpretivist approach, data needs to be processed inductively by means of identification of themes within the data collected and cross referencing this data with existing research that is available in the field of study in order to help draw conclusions or theories.

# 3.12 RELIABILITY

In order to ensure credibility and reliability, most of the questions used in conducting interviews, had been used in past peer reviewed articles, (Siltaoja, 2006: Hillenbrand and Money 2007: Tinker Barnes and Wilson 2017 and Lu, Mao and Deng, 2018). These semi- structured questions acted as a guide to consciously maintain an impartial position during the process of conducting the interviews. Yin (2014), credits the semi-structured interviewing process to eliminating any engagement in informal conversation where the researcher's values could steer the engagement in a particular direction.

# 3.13 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Saunders et al., (2016) defines ethics as being the standards of the researcher's behaviour in regards to the rights of those who do become the subject of a research project, or those that are affected by it. Bryman and Bell (2015), identifies four main ethical issues that need to be addressed when conducting interviews namely, harm to participants, lack of informed consent, invasion of privacy and deception.

In conducting this research the four principal issues identified by Bryman and Bell acted as a guideline in addressing all issues concerning ethics. Firstly all participants

chosen to take part in this research were made to understand why they were chosen and to what their views contributed to the project. They were told that the prime factors of conducting this research is in fulfilment of a requirement for a master of science research project and probably add to the existing literature on issues to do with CSR and company reputation from an Irish millennials perception. In line with this, consent forms were provided, filled and signed off by participants prior to the start of each interview. Participants were informed that all research will pertain to a specific academic exploration and will not be used in any other reports apart from that intended.

Participants were advised that by them accepting to take part in this interview process, they were not obliged to remain in the interview process as they could terminate or remove themselves at any point during the process. Participants were made aware that the interviews would be recorded and transcribed and that they will be afforded access to both the audio and transcribed data at any time they may request.

Participants' anonymity was guaranteed all throughout the interview process and participants will not be referenced by their names but by a number so that they are not personally identifiable. Due diligence was put in securing all the data and European Union guidelines in protecting data from members in the euro zone was adhered as general data protection regulation (GDPR) 2018, guideline was followed. GDPR guidelines regulates the way an individual or organisations manages personal data as it ensures that there is watertight consent management and requires effective data rights management systems to ensure the safety and misuse of data, (Nagle, 2018). To this effect participants were assured of the safety of all data files and advised of the destruction of all files once the project has been marked and grade

# **CHAPTER 4 – RESULTS**

#### 4.1 INTRODUCTION

Below is the table of themes and sub themes that emerged from interviews conducted:

THEMES	SUB THEMES
(1) Philanthropic aspect	<ul> <li>Transparency and fairness</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Advertising CSR</li> </ul>
(2) CSR benefits	- Trust
	- Longevity
	<ul> <li>Good corporate reputation</li> </ul>
(3) Irresponsible corporate behaviour	
(4) Business ethics	- Government policy
	- Self-regulatory
(5) More to Corporate reputation	

Table 4.1: Themes and sub themes.

#### 4.2 Philanthropic Aspect.

Results from the data collected indicate that participants in this study are clear and consistent when it comes to corporate social responsibility. It was observed that most of the participants related CSR with philanthropic actions. Participants felt companies should engage in CSR activities as a passion for giving back to society and the environment and need not expect anything in return.

Participant ten highlighted this point by saying "Corporate social responsibility is a way that a company gives back to its operating environment. Because a company operates in a corporate world, it uses resources such as people, raw material and other operating resources from the society it is operating in, therefore, it has a responsibility to serve and help the same society".

The same point was highlighted further by participant two who talked of companies doing CSR voluntarily *"I would say corporate social responsibility would mean companies being able to take responsibility for their impact on society..... I would say it is where companies do integrate either their social or environmental concerns into whatever business operations that they are doing voluntarily".* 

Participant six also agrees to CSR as being philanthropic by saying that, "CSR for me is a way of giving back to the society....... And not expecting anything in return".

## 4.2.1 Transparency and Fairness

However although most of the participants in this study were in agreement that companies need to look at CSR as philanthropic duty, some issues do stand out during the interviews. Transparency and fairness stood out as being a key element to companies when they are involved in CSR activities. Participant two observed that "CSR is about being transparent and having goodwill for people and the environment". On fairness participant three observed that, "To me corporate social responsibility...... is all the responsibilities that companies and organisations have towards all their associates. I think business as an entity needs to be operated on a fair basis".

# 4.2.2 Advertising CSR

During the interviews most participants felt that when companies are doing CSR initiatives, they should not use it as a marketing tool for advertising because it defeats the whole purpose of CSR.

Participant five highlighted this by saying that "Companies also do not need to try and keep advertising their CSR efforts, that to me looks like they are using CSR for advertising. It removes the realness from the whole initiative". Participant two also wondered if some of the companies use their CSR initiative as a marketing tool,

"Mostly when you look at such companies, they are the ones on the mountain top blowing their whistles on what CSR programmes they are doing and how they are making the world a better place. You tend to wonder is this an advertisement or what." Participant eight adds by saying, "CSR to me is not a marketing tool. I know a lot of companies use it as a marketing tool, which in my eyes is completely wrong".

The key issue observed by most of the participants from the interviews is that they feel as though most of these companies and organisations use CSR in order to advertise themselves. Participant ten highlighted this point by saying that "But the catch is don't advertise your CSR activities or initiatives because that creates doubt in some people's minds like is this company serious or is it just using CSR to look good".

# 4.3 CSR BENEFITS

Most of the participants agreed that CSR is beneficial to both the company and stakeholders. Companies benefit from CSR as they use it as a way of giving back to society whilst stakeholders benefit as they are able to engage and share information with companies on issues concerning sustainability and more. Participant ten said, *"Since an organization uses many resources like people, raw materials and others as I have said, so CSR is important to an organization as a way of giving back".* Participant seven also said that, *".... by a company engaging in CSR practices, it* 

shows that its concerns are not just centred on profitability as they are able to get and address stakeholders concerns".

However despite most of the participants being in agreement of the important role that CSR plays to an organisation, the participants had different opinions on the benefits of CSR. Some of the benefits mentioned are trust, longevity and good corporate reputation.

# 4.3.1 TRUST

Some of the participants in the interviews said that CSR will help in improving the trust levels that stakeholders and mainly customers have with most organisations. Participant four said, "CSR makes sure that there is trust generated between the company and all its stakeholders". This was also mentioned by participant seven who said, "In my eyes, I think, if a company is into CSR, I would regard that company as a highly reputable company which I could easily trust and be proud to associate with". Participant nine added, "Companies now are using CSR to regain trust that they lost during the financial crisis". However participant four highlighted the key issue by saying that, ".... This trust is only limited to the organisations present activities".

# 4.3.2 LONGEVITY

Some of the participants during the interviews felt that by organisations implementing CSR policies, it will add their business life. Participant two said, "CSR is action and not just mere rhetoric, so if used correctly it can increase the trust levels that customers have of an organisation and the longevity of the entire business. Participant five also added, "So if CSR is used correctly it would add a life span to your business in this competitive world of business where most businesses are failing to survive because of stiff competition". Participant six added that, "In my opinion I think if an organisation does not have strong CSR policy, it will not survive in business because after the crash of 2008, people are now demanding more".

# 4.3.3 GOOD CORPORATE REPUTATION

Whilst in the interviews some of the participants talked of the role of CSR as enhancing the trust levels between an organisation and its stakeholders or for business longevity, most of the interviewees also said that CSR is important in the creation of a good corporate reputation. Participant ten said that, "*The CSR practices done by the company may influence a good reputation for the company since customers feel a sense of attachment or closeness with a company*". Participant one linked CSR and corporate reputation by saying, "*If a Company is practicing CSR which I would call proactive CSR then it will help the organisation to survive in this fierce world of competition and will create goodwill or say reputation*". Participant seven added, "*Have a strong CSR pedigree then you are assured of a strong reputation.....*"

However, in most of the interviews, the interviewees felt that in order for these companies to enhance good corporate reputation, trust and longevity, they need to start with local communities as Participant four said, "*I think CSR needs to look at local issues first before they look at the global village*".

# 4.4 Irresponsible Corporate Behaviour

Most of the participants felt that irresponsible behaviour from companies and organisations leads to lack of trust on the part of customers and a bad reputation for the company. Participants felt that there was a strong connection between lack of trust and bad reputation. This was evident in that most of the respondents went back to the financial crisis of 2008 where customers felt betrayed by banks and even though a decade has gone, most of the participants still did not have that full trust with the banking sector. Participant nine observed that, "*That bond that you have with an organisation is what determines how you think about the company be it positive or negative. There is no way you can go and say you have a bad relationship with a company but there reputation is good. Nope, it doesn't work like that".* 

Adding on the same point, participant 2 said, "Likewise if you have a bad CSR reputation say like of using minors in your labour force then surely this will also affect your reputation. I don't think people would like to associate with say companies that mistreats its workers, pays its suppliers late and all that. Your reputation on this one will surely follow you". Participant three added by talking about the trust people lost on companies after the crunch by saying, "And then look at these banks, not many people trusted them after the crunch, they wrongly invested peoples monies and it ended up people losing a lot of money and they still have a bad reputation. Even though they are now trying to rebuild that trust but still not many people can say they have 100 percent trust in banks. So what I am trying to say is if an organisation does bad to me then to me its reputation is bad.no two ways about that".

The key issues observed through the participants' responses are that millennials do value trust a lot and they feel companies need not take that for granted. The other key issue observed was that companies need to work in building a good relationship with all its stakeholders as this special relationship resonates well with millennials. Participant ten summarized this point by saying "*The relationship I have with a company does not only influence me to be loyal but will influence how I view the whole organization*".

# 4.5 Business Ethics

During the interviews, participants highlighted the need for companies to uphold their ethical standards in conducting business. Most participants in the interviews said companies need to have morals and values in their business decision making process. Participant nine said, "*I expect companies to live up to the standards that they're supposed to adhere to*". Participant five added "so I do expect a company to

be trustworthy and then finally I expect it to operate ethically. Let it be a responsible company......." Participant two added that, "I think businesses need to do business in a professional manner where they are following ethical standards and operate in a way where there decisions are guided by upright moral standards".

However despite most of the participants being in agreement that companies need to uphold to ethical and moral standards, participants were divided on who needs to make sure that these standards are upheld. Some participants felt that there is need for strict government policies whilst others felt companies need to be self-regulatory or industry regulated.

# 4.5.1 Government Policy

Participant one said, "Government as well need to tighten laws and regulations concerning issues to do with CSR because if not then we will keep having these CSR scandals". Participant nine added that "Companies need to adhere to certain ethical guidelines that are set up by local councils or general government regulations. Participant eight spoke of these government laws and regulations being fair to both parties if they are to become effective, "The government needs to come up with strong CSR regulations that will be seen to be fair by the company and the people and in so doing these policies can benefit and protect everyone".

# 4.5.2 Self-Regulatory

Some participants during the interviews said that CSR need not be regulated by government but let the company or industry regulate itself because CSR is voluntary. Participant five said, "Companies need to follow the rules and regulations set up by its regulatory body and be a good citizen really, nobody needs outside policing when doing charity". Participant seven added that, "industries need to come up with strong checks and balances and regulations in order to safeguard malpractices". Participant three also said, "Each particular industry as well needs to come up with strong laws and regulations that protect each industry because generalising CSR laws cannot work and by these companies regulating themselves they are more likely to adhere to these laws".

# 4.6 Other factors influencing corporate reputation.

Whilst most participants were in agreement that CSR will enhance a company's reputation, they felt that CSR is not the only determinant to corporate reputation. Participants mentioned other factors such as product quality, customer care, the relationship one holds with a company and social media influence as some of the factors that will influence or determine a company's reputation.

According to Participant 10, "As a customer, my relationship is based on my experience with the company and to build a good reputation...... Even though a reputation can be influenced by peers, a personal relationship with the company is

important to determine a company reputation in the eyes of the customer". He further adds that, "The social media also influence how people view the company, for instance if a customer complains of any bad dealings with an organization, it may cause a bad reputation", Participant 5 adds to this by saying, "To me when you talk about a company's reputation then it's about that relationship that it has with its stakeholders".

Most of the participants also talked of product and service quality, Participant two highlighted this by saying "the company builds a reputation through ......good products and services or if they have good ideas, which helps the people to meet the basic needs". Participant six added, "So I would say a combination of product or service and the message that goes with it and in this case then it's the word of mouth or support from the public using the internet or whatever medium,". Participant nine also pointed out these issues, "Mostly they are..... customer service, online profile, customer reviews and the social media which when combined add to a company's reputation".

The other key factor that most of these participants highlighted is that as much as they can make their own individual opinions, peer or group influences play a part when they make an opinion on an organisation. The reason being that humans as social beings we depend and are easily influenced by what others in our circle say or do. As participant 1 pointed out, *"Reputation if I can also add is built by our circle of friends and associates who consciously and subconsciously affects our thinking method in one way or the other".*
# **CHAPTER 5 – DISCUSSION**

The aim of this research was to investigate Irish Millennials' perceptions of CSR, and factors that influenced these perceptions. The first research question asked how do Irish millennials understand CSR and what expectations they hold on organisations. Based on the results of this study it can be seen that Irish millennials understand CSR as being a philanthropic act and expect organisations to be fair and transparent in their actions and they also expect organisations to not advertise CSR.

Irish millennials showed a deep understanding on issues concerning CSR as most participants had been affected by the financial crisis of 2009 and had grown up in a time of economic and social turmoil, (Delaney 2016). This experience has stayed on with Irish millennials and thus they are passionate with CSR issues and are taking a leading role in holding companies responsible in their pursuit of making the world a better place, (Roker, 2017). The key aspect observed on CSR being philanthropic was that participants understood the company's other obligations like making profit (Claydon, 2008), and were willing to pay more for sustainable products. This addressed Gazzolla (2018) concern that can a company operate profitably by addressing all stakeholders concerns?

Participants also expected companies to be transparent and fair in their transactions by constantly sharing information with relevant stakeholders. Participants expected companies to share information, even that of which they are not comfortable with. They felt that as key stakeholders they have the right to information thereby in return they can make informed choices as was observed by (Jones, Harrison and Felps 2018) that millennials demand the continuous sharing of information by organisations.

Participants also highlighted on the need for companies not to advertise their CSR activities as they felt that by advertising these activities it devalues the essence of the philanthropic act and might be seen as a marketing tool instead of its intended purpose of the company being a good corporate citizen. Overall participants had a deep understanding of CSR and have high expectations from companies to play a key role in making this planet a better place as highlighted by (Aidhi 2005).

The second research question from this study asked what the factors that influence a company's reputation are and are they related to CSR. We can see from the theme identified in the results section that participants felt that despite CSR playing a crucial role in determining a company's reputation (Deephouse 2000) other factors also play an important role. Participants highlighted other factors like product, ethics, trust, peer pressure, and process as some of equally important factors.

However the key issue that most participants seemed to agree on was on the importance of the process involved to deliver the product or service. They felt that

process plays an important role in creating a company's image. Participants felt that despite the importance of CSR in determining reputation, other factors as well have an important role.

The third research question asked how Irish millennials relate to companies with good or bad CSR reputation. On companies with good CSR reputation participants felt that this will be beneficial to the company as it will lead to people having trust in the company and this will lead to the organisation's longevity in the business as it can also use its good reputation as an asset as was also observed by (Hillenbrand and Money 2007).

However on trust, participants stressed that this trust is limited to the company's present CSR initiatives. They felt that a company's past or future initiatives is of no less significance as it holds no value to them. This attribute can also be lead back to millennials growing up in a time of economic and social turmoil thereby being slow to trust as was observed by (Winograd and Hais 2014).

Participants also felt that good CSR reputation will prolong the company's life span in business in a world where the life span of most businesses seems to be short because of fierce competition as was also observed by (Yadav, 2018). Good CSR policies will also lead to the increase of the value of the company. Participants stressed of the importance of good reputation and how in modern business reputation is being determined as an intangible asset thereby being of significant value to an organisation as was observed also by (Branco and Rodrigues 2006). Overall participants felt connected with a company with good CSR practices and were willing to support such companies by paying higher prices for sustainable goods as was observed by (Croydon 2008).

On companies with a bad CSR reputation, participants felt disconnected with such companies. They felt a bad CSR reputation will lead to lack of trust and overall will create a bad reputation for the company which will eventually lead to its demise. Participants felt that it is difficult for a company to survive when it has lost the trust and support of its key stakeholders as was observed by (Yadav 2018).

Results from the current study is in line with findings by Delaney (2016) that millennials are more concerned with CSR issues because of having grown at a time of social and economic turmoil. Thus taking a lead in trying to make this world a better place as observed by (Howe et al., 2000) and expecting companies to join them in this effort by being responsible (Mc Glone, Spain and Glone 2011).

The findings of this paper are also in line with the findings by Hilbrand and Money (2007) Siltaoja M (2006), which showed the link between CSR and corporate image. However some key issues will be discussed based on the findings:

Most participants in the study used the philanthropic aspect as a determinant of CSR and showed a deep care of issues concerning equality and the environment. This is

in line with Aidhi (2005) observations that the millennials are taking a leading role on matters concerning the communities and the environment. This observation also supports Roker (2017) that millennials are leaders on social and environmental issues and are holding companies responsible for their actions.

Although participants looked at CSR as being philanthropic, they were aware of the company's other obligations like making a return on their investment, (Croydon 2008). As such participants were willing to pay even a slightly higher price for sustainable products. This finding supports Cone (2015) that millennials are willing to pay more for activities that inspires them and seems to address Kanta, Ramana and Mallikarjauna (2014) concern that there needs to be found a synergy between business and CSR, if not one party will gain over the other.

However on the issue that most participants referenced CSR to philanthropic duties, this was unlike some of their European counterparts who referenced CSR to a company being ethical, (Geva, 2008). This was an interesting finding however it supported Sum (2017) argument that issues concerning CSR need not be generalised and used as a one size fits all format but be investigated based on each culture region or country because people's hopes and expectations are different.

Participants also felt that for CSR initiatives to be successful, companies need to be transparent and fair in their approach to business. Participants called for an open door communication policy between all stakeholders and the company. This was in line with Wagner et al., (2009) suggestion that companies need to continuously engage with stakeholders and keep redefining their CSR policy as people expectations continuously change. However participants even expected companies to share information that they are sometimes not comfortable with as this builds trust. Jones, Harrison and Felps (2008), observed that the millennial generation demands the continual sharing of information to all stakeholders.

The finding that participants recommended that CSR should not be advertised highlights the concern that Pradham (2016) observed that when some stakeholders are talking about CSR, they normally talk of only the determinant that applies to them despite there being other determinants. This offers a challenge as Palazzi (2017) observed that although advertising CSR might not be recommended for philanthropic aspect of CSR, it could be useful in other aspects like addressing stakeholder concerns and adapting codes of conduct that meet international standards. To address this challenge, Rocker (2017) recommended for the continuous engagement between the company and stakeholders and Cone (2015) suggests that companies need to come up with unique CSR strategies for each stakeholder.

Participants' agreement that CSR is beneficial to a company and thus calling for organisations to embrace it was in line with Fatima, Rahman and Khan (2015) observation that literature seems to be in general consensus about the importance of CSR to organisations. However the key issue observed during the interviews is that

when talking about CSR issues, participants had the same expectations on all companies despite the size. This was in contrast to Nasiti and Sukuharsono (2017) observation that CSR expectations depend on the size of the company. This finding also contrasts Campbell (2007) observation that the CSR pyramid suits companies that are financially strong. Participants had similar expectations on both small and big companies.

One of the benefits participants attributed to CSR was trust. Participants felt CSR enables the growth of trust between stakeholders and the company. This is in agreement with what Jones, Harrison and Felps (2018), observed that one of the benefits of CSR is that it offers a high level of trust and co-operation between the company and its stakeholders. However the key issue observed by participants is that this trust is limited to the company's present CSR activities. Participants felt that a company's past and future CSR initiatives are of no less significance. This is in line to the finding of Mc Glone et al.,(2012), that observed that millennials loyalty to brands or a company, is limited to a company's current CSR initiative as past activities holds no value. This is a challenge for modern businesses to be pro- active and come up with strategies that will continuously engage this influential generation as observed by (Barnes, 2015).

The other benefit of CSR as observed by the participants was that it offers companies longevity in business. This is in line with Galant (2017), observation that CSR is one of the key components for modern business prosperity and long life. Winograd and Hais (2014) also recommended that companies need not ignore the millennial generation for the growth and sustainability of their businesses. However Holten (2019) observed that Corporate Ireland is lagging behind European standards in terms of customer engagement. This is an area that most Irish companies need to address as it has been observed through this study that most participants are looking for constant engagement with companies.

Despite CSR being beneficial to the organisation, participants felt that irresponsible behaviour by Companies will lead to lack of trust from the customers and a bad reputation for the company. This supports the observation made by Leon and Moyo (2015) that most customers have lost trust on companies because of the irresponsible behaviour that was done by companies during the economic crisis of 2008. Although a decade has gone most participants in this study still referenced to the experiences they had gone through during economic crisis of 2008. This supports Delaney (2016), observation that millennials having grown in a time of organisations causing massive depletion of the ozone layer and relentless financial scandals, do have trust issues with companies and as a result companies need to do more to gain the trust levels of this influential generation.

Participants also felt that irresponsible behaviour by companies will lead to them having a bad reputation which will be difficult to repair. This observation supports Wilkins and Campos (2011) finding that irresponsible behaviour by organisations will

lead to bad corporate reputation and lack of trust. . However the concern is that issues concerning irresponsible behaviour continue to be prevalent in the corporate world and some involving big multinational organisations, (Holten, 2019), the relationship between companies and its stakeholders mostly on trust will continue to be an issue. Participants agree with Kearns, (2017) observation that questions and concerns pertaining to trust issues between consumers and the business world continue to exist. Paddington (2019) observed the same problem and suggested that companies need to back their words with action in order to maintain or re build trust with customers. Most participants were also consistent that they are willing to punish companies based on their commitment to social causes as was also highlighted by (Cone 2015).

Despite that many participants supported the fact that CSR influences corporate reputation as observed by Murma, Bravi and Palazzi (2017), they also acknowledged the importance of other factors to determining a corporate reputation. This is in line with Deephouse (2000) observation that there are many ways that stakeholders can use to evaluate an organisation. Some of the factors highlighted by participants in this study are product or service quality, customer care or the process that service is delivered, customer relationship with the company, social media influence and company reviews. Some of these factors are in line with the factors highlighted by Fombrum and Shanley (1990) who mentioned ethics and morality, history, efficiency, product, public image and human resource as some of the factors.

However the key issue that participants mentioned that is not highlighted more in literature is that of the process that is used to deliver that product. Participants felt process plays an important role in creating a corporate reputation. Cuervo- Cazurra (2018) mentioned of the 3 Ps that helps create a reputation of a company being people, profit and planet. However Cuervo-Cazurra encouraged for research into other elements that might play apart as Kolk (2016) observed that CSR is an ever evolving topic. With this thought process in mind, the 3ps of Cuervo-Cazurra could be further developed after further research into 4ps by adding process. Participants felt process is the link that can connect the 3ps and this might in part attempt to answer Modorran and Garcia (2016) observation that studies between CSR and corporate reputation have been inconclusive because of the ever changing mediating factors,

Participants also highlighted the importance of how peer influence plays a part in determining a company's reputation. This is in line with what Morton (2002) observed that millennials are interconnected and they try to influence each other in matters concerning CSR and corporate reputation. This is in line with the observation made by Rocker (2017) that millennials are more connected and try to influence each other on global trends than any generation by using social media.

Finally participants felt that companies need to have a high level of ethical standards if companies and stakeholders are to benefit from CSR. Most participants felt that by

companies keeping up high ethical standards, they might avoid having a negative impact on people and the environment. This opinion by the participants supports Carroll (2004), who said that companies do have an obligation to do what is right, just and fair so that they should avoid causing any harm.

The deep concern showed by participants on talking about companies having ethical standards and maintaining them, is in line with the finding made by Howe et al (2000) who observed that millennials are a generation that shows deep sensitivity towards ethical and CSR issues. Participants in the research expects more from companies and are willing to hold accountable companies that are un ethical and do not operate fair practices. This supports Aidhi (2005), finding that millennials have a passion on ethical issues, expect companies to hold high standards, (Deloitte 2014) and are willing to deal with companies based on ethical and CSR choices, (Mc Glone et al., 2011).

Although most participants agreed on the need for companies to be ethical and have morals and values, they had different opinions on who should ensure that these ethical standards and morals are adhered to. Some participants felt that for companies to be ethical and maintain the ethical standards, government needs to come up with clear rules and regulations concerning CSR. Participants felt companies have no moral right to regulate themselves going by past experiences as Deephouse (2000) observed that these companies have no moral right to regulate themselves because they continue to be involved in irresponsible behaviour and practices.

As such participants felt that government needs to be the one to regulate industries by coming up with laws and regulations for each county or country. This thought process supports what Cosans (2009) observed that most companies have no moral obligations and Lin- Hi and Miller (2013), observation that governments need to regulate CSR because of private sector greed. This is also in agreement with Lin and Bloomberg (2018) observation that if the industry is left to regulate itself, companies will cherry pick projects and will sacrifice doing CSR projects in order to maximise profits as they are always under pressure from investors.

However the key issue highlighted by participants was that it is important for government when coming up with these laws and regulations to involve all stakeholders when drafting these laws. Participants felt that for these laws to be seen to be fair government need to engage both the industry and all concerned stakeholders. This is line with what Guckian (2019), suggestion that government need to by both parties as it is difficult to police each and every company.

Other participants in this study felt that companies or industries need to regulate themselves since CSR is voluntary. They also felt that if these companies or industries regulate themselves, they will be able to adhere to their own laws easily

and will need no policing. This thought process supports what Mir and Shah (2018) suggested that CSR needs to be a self-regulated mechanism where each industry ensures its own active compliance.

## 5.1 PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE STUDY

Irish millennials define CSR using the philanthropic determinant which is different to other European nations who use ethics and legal as a determinant thereby this being vital for organisations not to generalise CSR as a general concept.

The findings also suggest that despite participants being in agreement that corporate reputation is determined by people, planet and profit; participants also highlighted process as being an important part of the 3Ps. This signifies that consumers' expectations are forever changing thereby companies need to constantly engage with stakeholders.

The final implication observed was that participants despite putting value on CSR as being a determinant of corporate reputation, acknowledged the importance of other factors as quality among many others in determining a corporate reputation. This signifies that companies need do more than CSR alone to have a good reputation

# 5.2 STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS OF THE CURRENT STUDY

The strength of this paper is that it contributes to the body of literature Irish millennials perception on issues concerning CSR and corporate reputation where most of the research is based on American millennials. This responds to calls in literature for more research into CSR and corporate image issues as these issues cannot be generalised.

One of the limitations of this paper is that it used a qualitative mono method whereby a mixed methodology would have offered the chance of using both qualitative and quantitative methods which would enable the richness of data collected as it would be backed by figures.

Since this research was based on a small sample size of only ten millennials and based in and around Dublin city area, data analysed cannot be generalised as it will be limited to that setting alone and not representative of the whole Irish millennial population.

The other limitation is that this study is based on the Irish context and therefore cannot represent any jurisdiction.

The final limitation is that of the time frame imposed to hand in this research paper. Hiller (2010), recommends that research to do with opinions and perceptions, needs to be conducted over a longer period of time as peoples opinion and perceptions might change over time. As this paper needs to be presented within a short time frame, it will not be possible to determine if people's opinion and perception might have changed over a longer time frame.

# 5.3 SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

Although this research has contributed to the body of knowledge by giving Irish millennials perception on CSR issues and how they affect a company's reputation, it has also opened a window on the importance of future research in connection with these issues.

Firstly as the sample of this research was small, the findings could not be a fair representation of Irish millennials thus it would be encouraged to conduct a research that had a fair representation of Irish millennials.

Secondly as this research concentrated on millennials, it would be interesting to find out and compare how other generations understand CSR and if at all they link it to corporate reputation.

It would be interesting to conduct the same research using quantitative method to be able to generalise the findings.

Finally, as many participants in this research said that there are many factors that contribute to a company reputation including the process of product or service delivery as discussed in chapter four and five, it would be interesting to evaluate reputation based on different stakeholders' understanding of corporate reputation.

## 5.4 CONCLUSSION

This paper achieved its research aim which was to investigate how Irish millennials link CSR and company image. As observed through chapter three and four of this paper, Irish millennials gave their opinion on matters concerning CSR and company image in a clear and precise way.

Howe and Strauss (2000) suggested that millennials will be a generation that will have a high level of awareness on issues concerning corporate social responsibility. This study supports that suggestion as it has shown that millennials have a clear understanding of CSR issues and do expect companies to be held responsible for their conduct. However the interesting aspect is that participants in this study determined using the philanthropic aspect as compared to other European nations who used ethical and legal as a determinant.

Participants in this study also called for CSR not to be advertised which highlights the concern that when people are talking about CSR, they only use the determinant that makes sense to them ignoring some other well important determinants. This offers a challenge because on one hand participants are calling for the continual sharing of information between the company and stakeholders and on the other they are saying CSR need not be advertised. If CSR is not to be advertised, then how would companies communicate with all its stakeholders on important issues?

The study also showed that there is a strong relationship between CSR and a company's image. This was analysed by finding out from participants if they used CSR as a determinant to corporate reputation. This paper suggests that there is a strong link on the two variables as it was observed that CSR was one of the common factors used to determine a company's reputation.

However some interesting factors like peer pressure and process emerged that were not so prominent in literature. Participants felt that peer pressure plays a major part in a company reputation as people are easily influenced by the opinions of family and friends. Deephouse (2000) observed that millennials are a more connected generation and the internet has made it easy for them to connect through social media. This interconnection has helped them to influence each other on social and environmental issues. So as much as companies need to work on their CSR policies to have a good reputation, other important factors as well like peer pressure and many others need not be ignored.

This study has also attempted to address the gap in literature as observed by Cuervo-Cuzzura (2018) that the 3Ps of Product, public image and Planet could not be the only determinants of a corporate image. This study suggested that the process that a product or service is delivered could be an important factor as well. So this paper suggested the creation of the 4Ps as an enhancement to Cuervi-Cuzzura,s 3Ps.

Overall this paper has added to the body of knowledge by adding to literature the views of Irish millennials on issues concerning CSR and corporate image. As Formankova et al., (2019) observed that there is lack of literature from millennials pertaining to issues concerning CSR and corporate reputation despite them being an influential generation. The limited material on this generation is based on American case study, (Sum 2017), thus hopefully this paper have added to literature and laid the ground work where issues of CSR and company image can be further researched from an Irish millennial perspective.

### REFERENCES

AIDHI, K. (2015) 'Aligning the millennials in the CSR movement', Human Capital, 19(1)36–37.

Anderson, R. L., Dahlquist, S. H. and Garver, M. S. (2018) 'Millennials' Purchasing Response to CSR Behaviour', *Marketing Management Journal*, 28(1)14–29.

Bansal, P., Jiang, G. and Jung, J. (2015), 'Managing Responsibly in Tough Economic Times: Strategic and Tactical CSR during the 2008–2009 Global Recession'. *Long Range Planning*, *48*(2), 69-79.

Baraibar-Diez, E. and Luna Sotorrío, L. (2018) 'The mediating effect of transparency in the relationship between corporate social responsibility and corporate reputation', *Revista Brasileira de Gestão de Negócios*, 20(1) 5–21.

Barnes, N.G. (2015). 'EWOM drives social commerce: a survey of millennials in U.S. and abroad'. *Journal of Marketing Development and Competitiveness* 9(2), 36-46.

Bondarouk, T. and Olivas-Lujan, M, R. (2013) 'Social media in strategic Management'. Bingley, UK: Emerald Group Publishing Limited (Advanced Series in Management).

Bowen, H. (1953) 'Social Responsibilities of the Businessman' Harper, New York.

Branco, M. C. and Rodrigues, L. (2006) 'Corporate Social Responsibility and Resource-Based Perspectives', *Journal of Business Ethics*, 69(2) 111.

Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2006) 'Using thematic analysis in Psychology'. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2) 77-101.

Bryman, A. and Bell, E, (2015) '*Business Research Methods*'. (4<sup>th</sup>Ed.) New York: Oxford.

Bryman, A., and Bell, E, (2011) 'Business *Research Methods*'. Oxford: Oxford Univ. Press.

Campbell, J. T., Eden, L., and Miller, S. R, (2012) 'Multinationals and Corporate Social Responsibility in Host Countries: Does Distance Matter? *Journal of International Business Studies*, 43(1), 84–106.

Campbell, J.L. (2007). "*Why would corporations behave in socially responsible ways*?" Academy of Management Review, Vol. 32, No. 3.

Caracuel – Aguilera, Javier, Jaime Guerrero-Villegas and Encarnación García-Sánchez (2017) 'Reputation of multinational companies: Corporate social responsibility and internationalization', *European Journal of Management and Business Economics*, (3) 329.

Carrol, D. (1991) "The Pyramid of Corporate Social Responsibility: Toward the Moral Management of Organisational Stakeholders", *Business Horizons*, 34(4), 39-48.

Carroll, A.B., (2004) "Managing Ethically with Global Stakeholders-A Present and Future Challenge", *Academy of Management Executive*, 18(2), 114-120.

Clarkson, M.E. (1995) 'A Stakeholder Framework for Analyzing and Evaluating Corporate Social Performance', *Academy of Management Review*, 20(1) 92-117

Claydon, J. (2008) 'Two Models of CSR and Sustainability', *Issues in Social & Environmental Accounting*, 2(2) 260–265.

Collis, J. and Hussey, R, (2009) *Business Research- A Practical Guide for Undergraduate and Postgraduate Students*'. 3<sup>rd</sup>Ed. New York: Palgrave.

Comyns, B. and Franklin-Johnson, E. (2016) Corporate Reputation and Collective Crises: A Theoretical Development Using the Case of Rana Plaza. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 150(1) 159-183.

Cone (2015), Civic-minded millennials prepared to reward or punish companies based on commitment to social causes. Retrieved from <u>http://www.csrwire.com/News/6641.html</u>.

Confino, J. (2019). Oxfam report shows multinational companies failing on CSR goals. Retrieved from, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/sustainable-business/oxfam-multinational-companies-failing-csr.</u>

Cooper, D. & Schindler, P. (2014), Business *research methods*. Boston. McGraw-Hill.

Cosans, C. (2009). Does Milton Friedman support a vigorous business ethics? *Journal of Business Ethics*, 87(3), 391–399.

Crane, A. & Matten, D. (2004) 'Business Ethics'. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Cruz L B, Pedrozo E A and Estivalete V F B (2006), "Towards Sustainable Development Strategies: A Complex View Following the Contribution of Edgar Morin", *Management Decision*, 44(7) 871-891.

Cuervo-Cazurra, A. (2018) 'The Evolution of Business Groups' Corporate Social Responsibility', *Journal of Business Ethics*, 153(4), pp. 997–1016.

de Gooyert, V., Rouwette, E., van Kranenburg, H., & Freeman, E. (2017) 'Reviewing the role of stakeholders in Operational Research: A stakeholder theory perspective'. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 262(2), 402-410.

Deephouse, D. L. (2000) 'Media reputation as a strategic resource: integration of mass communication and resource-based theories'. *Journal of Management*, 26(6), 1091–1112.

del Brío, J. and Lizarzaburu, E. R. (2017) 'Corporate Reputation and Corporate Social Responsibility and its impact in the financial sector', *Journal of Customer Behaviour*, 16(1), 91–105.

Delaney, A. (2016) 'Millennials Redefine CSR: corporate social responsibility events are becoming the norm in incentive programs', *Incentive*, p. 30.

Deloitte (2014) 'Big demands and high expectations' *The Deloitte Millennial Survey*. Available at: <u>https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/global/Documents/AboutDeloitte/gx-</u>dttl-2014-millennial-survey-report.pdf. Accessed 23.04.19.

Deng, X. and Xu, Y (2017), 'Consumers' Responses to Corporate Social Responsibility Initiatives: The Mediating Role of Consumer--Company Identification', *Journal of Business Ethics*, (3), 515.

Drucker, P.F. (1954) '*The Practice of Management*'. Collins, New York USA. Edelman (2010), 'The 8095 Exchange: Millennials, their actions surrounding brands, and the dynamics of reverberation'.

Fatma, M., Rahman, Z. and Khan, I. (2015) 'Building company reputation and brand equity through CSR: the mediating role of trust', *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 33(6) 840-856.

Fombrun, C. and Shanley, M (1990) 'What's in a name? 'Reputation building and corporate strategy'. *The Academy of Management Journal, 33*(2), 233–258.

Formánková, S., Trenz, O., Faldík, O., Kolomazník, J., and Sládková, J. (2019) Millennials' Awareness and Approach to Social Responsibility and Investment— Case Study of the Czech Republic. *Sustainability*, *11*(2) 504.

Freeman, I., and Hasnaoui, A. (2011) 'The Meaning of Corporate Social Responsibility: The Vision of Four Nations'. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 100(3), 419–443.

Freeman, R.E. (1984) *Strategic management: A stakeholder approach*, Pitman, Boston.

Frels, R. K. and Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013) 'Administering Quantitative Instruments with Qualitative Interviews: A Mixed Research Approach', *Journal of Counselling & Development*, 91(2), pp. 184–194.

Friedman, M. (1970) The Social Responsibility of Business Is to Increase Its Profits. New York Times Magazine, 13 September, 22-26.

Fry, R. (2016, January 13). Millennials overtake Baby Boomers as America's largest generation. Retrieved from http:// www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2016/04/25/ millennials-overtake-baby-boomers/.

Galant, M. (2017) 'The Stakeholders Theory as a Starting Point for the Critique of Corporate Social Responsibility', *Research Papers of the Wroclaw University of Economics / Prace Naukowe Uniwersytetu Economicznego we Wroclawiu,* (464), 31-42.

Gazzola, P (2018) 'Ethical Behaviour Integrated in CSR: How to create and maintain the Corporate Reputation', *Economia Aziendale*, 9(2) 175-185.

Geva, A. (2008) 'Three Models of Corporate Social Responsibility: Interrelationships between Theory, Research, and Practice', *Business and Society Review*, 113(1) 1-41.

Guckian, M. L. *et al.* (2018) "A few bad apples" or "rotten to the core": Perceptions of corporate culture drive brand engagement after corporate scandal', *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 17(1), 29–41.

Harun, A., Prybutok, G. and Prybutok, V. (2018) 'Do the millennials in the USA care about the fast food industry's involvement in corporate social responsibility'? *Young Consumers*, 19(4), 358-381.

Herremans, I.M., Akathaporn, P. and McInnes M. (1993), 'An Investigation of Corporate Social Responsibility Reputation and Economic Performance'. *Accounting, Organisation and Society*, 18 (7/8), 587-604.

Hesse-Biber, S. (2015) 'Mixed Methods Research'. *Qualitative Health Research*, *25*(6), 775-788.

Hillenbrand, C. and Money, K. (2007) 'Corporate Responsibility and Corporate Reputation: Two Separate Concepts or Two Sides of the Same Coin?', Corporate Reputation Review, 10(4) 261–277.

Hiller, A. J, (2010) 'Challenges in Researching Consumer Ethics: A Methodological Experiment'. Qualitative Market Research: *An International Journal,* 13 (3), 236-52.

Holten, R. (2019). 'Volkswagen: The scandal explained'. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/business-34324772</u>.

Howe, N. & Strauss, W. (2000), Millennials Rising, Vintage Books, New York, NY.

Hsu, K. T. (2012). The advertising effects of corporate social responsibility on corporate reputation and brand equity: Evidence from the life insurance industry in Taiwan. Journal of Business Ethics, 109(2), 189–201.

Jahn, J. and Brühl, R. (2018) 'How Friedman's View on Individual Freedom Relates to Stakeholder Theory and Social Contract Theory', *Journal of Business Ethics*, 153(1), 41–52.

James, H., and Rassekh, F. (2000) 'Smith, Friedman, and Self-Interest in Ethical Society', *Business Ethics Quarterly*, (3), p. 659.

Johnston, A. (2014) '*Rigour in research: theory in the research approach*'. European Business Review, 26 (3) 206-217.

Jones, T. M., Harrison, J. S. and Felps, W. (2018), 'How Applying Instrumental Stakeholder Theory Can Provide Sustainable Competitive Advantage', Academy *of Management Review*, 43(3)371–391.

Kanji, G. K., and Chopra, P.K. (2010), 'Corporate Social Responsibility in a Global Economy'. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 21(2), 119–143.

Kanta, K. N. M., Ramana, D. V., and Mallikarjuna, V. (2014) 'Cause related marketing: Antecedents of corporate motive'. *Journal of Indian Management*, 11, 71–78.

KEARNS, A.J., (2017) 'Rebuilding Trust: Ireland's CSR Plan in the Light of Caritas in Veritate'. *Journal of Business Ethics,* 146(4), 845-857.

Klimkiewicz, K. and Oltra, V. (2017) 'Does CSR Enhance Employer Attractiveness? The Role of Millennial Job Seekers' Attitudes', *Corporate Social Responsibility & Environmental Management*, 24(5), 449–463.

Kuhn, T. S. (1962) '*The structure of scientific revolutions*' (1st ed.). Chicago: University of Chicago.

Kunz, M. B. (2018) 'Corporate Social Responsibility Reporting on Fortune 500 Corporate Websites: Review and Analysis', *International Journal of Business & Public Administration*, 15(1), 30–51.

Lai, C. S., Chiu, C. J., Yang, C. F., and Pai, D. C. (2010) 'The Effects of Corporate Social Responsibility on Brand Performance: The mediating effect of industrial brand equity and corporate reputation'. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 95(3), 457–469.

León, J. L. and Moyo, T.(2015). '*The Global Financial and Economic Crisis in the South : Impact and Responses*'. Dakar: Codesria. Available at: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db=e 020mww&AN=1523465&site=eds-live&scope=site (Accessed: 24 April 2019).

Levitt, T. (1983), 'The Globalization of Markets,' *Harvard Business Review*, 61(3), 92-102.

Li, W. and Zhang, R. (2010) 'Corporate Social Responsibility, ownership structure, and political interference: Evidence from China'. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 96(4), 631–645.

Lin-Hi, N., and Blumberg, I. (2018) 'The Link between (Not) Practicing CSR and Corporate Reputation: Psychological Foundations and Managerial Implications'. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *150*(1), 185-198.

Matten, D., & Moon, J. (2008). "Implicit" and "explicit" CSR: A Conceptual Framework for a Comparative Understanding of Corporate Social Responsibility. *Academy of Management Review*, 33(2), 404–424.

Matuleviciene, M. and Stravinskiene, J. (2016) 'How to Develop Key Stakeholders Trust in Terms of Corporate Reputation', *Engineering Economics*, 27(4), pp. 472– 478

Mayer, I. (2015) 'Qualitative Research with a Focus on Qualitative Data Analysis', International Journal of Sales, Retailing & Marketing, 4(9), pp. 53–67.

Mc Greevy, R. (2019). 'Corporate social responsibility 'good for business', Retrieved from: <u>https://www.irishtimes.com/news/ireland/irish-news/corporate-social-responsibility-good-for-business-says-varadkar-1.2933601.</u>

McGlone, T., Spain, J., and McGlone, V. (2011), 'Corporate Social Responsibility and the Millennials'. *Journal of Education for Business*, 86(4), 195-200.

Melo T, Garrido-Morgado A. (2012) 'Corporate reputation: A combination of social responsibility and industry'. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management* 19(1): 11–31.

Miller, Richard k (2011), Consumer Behaviour: Millennial Consumers, Richard K. Miller and Associates (RKMA), Loganville, GA, pp. 211-6.

Mir, U. A. and Shah, F. A. (2018) 'Impact of Corporate Social Responsibility on Corporate Financial Performance: A Study of the Consumer Goods Industry of India', *Amity Global Business Review*, 13(1) 50–59.

Madorran, C. and Garcia, T. (2016), "Corporate social responsibility and financial performance: the Spanish case", Revista de Administração de Empresas, Vol. 56(1) 20-28.

Morton, L. P., (2002) 'Targeting generation Y', Public Relations Quarterly; Rhinebeck (47), 2.

Mulligan, T. (1986) 'A critique of Milton Friedman's essay 'the social responsibility of business is to increase its profits'. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 5(4), 265–269.

Murmura, F, Bravi, L & Palazzi, F 2017, 'Evaluating companies' commitment to corporate social responsibility: Perceptions of the SA 8000 standard', *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 164 (1) 1406–1418.

Nagle, J. (2019) 'EU-Data Protection' Available at: <u>https://www.irishtimes.com/business/work/eu-data-protection-regulation-what-you-need-to-know</u>.

NASTITI, A. L. A., SUKOHARSONO, E. G. and NURKHOLIS (2017) 'Carroll's Pyramid and the Implementation of Corporate Social Responsibility in "Pt Pupuk Kalimantan Timur", *CLEAR International Journal of Research in Commerce & Management*, 8(11), pp. 10–15.

Nielsen Global Research (2014) 'Doing well by doing good' Retrieved from https://www.nielsen.com/content/dam/nielsenglobal/apac/docs/reports/2014/Nielsen-Global-Corporate-SocialResponsibility-Report-June-2014.pdf.

Olmedo-Cifuentes, I., Martínez-León, I. and Davies, G. (2014) 'Managing internal stakeholders' views of corporate reputation', Service Business, 8(1), p. 83

Orts, E. W. and Strudler, A. (2002) 'The Ethical and Environmental Limits of Stakeholder Theory', *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 12(2), pp. 215–233. Available at: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db=bt h&AN=6660265&site=eds-live&scope=site&custid=ncirlib (Accessed: 23 March 2019).

Paddison, L. (2019) 'From VW to Brazil's mining disaster: 5 corporate scandals that defined 2015'. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/sustainable-business/2015/dec/30/vw-exxon-lobbying-brazil-mining-tragedy-toshiba-corporate-scandals-greenwashing-climate-change</u>.

Page, A. (2013) 'Revisiting the Causes of the Financial Crisis', *Indiana Law Review*, 47(1), 37–67.

Parasuraman, A. and Grewal, D. (2000), 'The Impact of Technology on the Quality-Value-Loyalty Chain: A Research Agenda'. *Journal of the Academy Of Marketing Science*, *28*(1), 168-174.

Peloza, J. *et al.* (2012) 'Sustainability: How Stakeholders perceptions differ from Corporate Reality', *California Management Review*, 55(1), pp. 74–95.

Phau, I. *et al.* (2018) "A few bad apples" or "rotten to the core": Perceptions of corporate culture drive brand engagement after corporate scandal', *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, (1) 29.

Pinkston, T. and Carroll, A. (1994) 'Corporate Citizenship Perspectives and Foreign direct Investment in the U.S'. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *13*(3), 157-169.

Pradhan, S. (2016) 'Impact of corporate social responsibility intensity on corporate reputation and financial performance of Indian firms', Business: Theory and Practice, (4) 371.

Quinlan, C. (2011), 'Business Research Methods'. Hampshire: Cengage Learning EMEA.

Quinlan, C. Zikmund, W. Babin, B. Carr, J. and Griffin, M. (2018), 'Business Research Methods'. Hampshire: Cengage Learning EMEA.

REEVE, K. and PINCIN, J. (2018) 'CSR Strategies in Sub-Saharan Africa: Focusing on the Bottom of the Pyramid', *ISM Journal of International Business*, 2(2) 15–24.

Robson, C. (2002) 'Real World Research'. 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed. Oxford: Blackwell.

Robson, C. (2011) '*Real World Research: A resource for users of social research methods in applied settings*'. 3rd ed. Oxford: Wiley.

Roker, A. (2017). Millennial Misconceptions-How They are changing the Workplace Today. New York City, NY: National Broadcast Corporation..

Saunders, M. Lewis, P and Thornhill, A. (2016), '*Research Methods for Business Students*'. 7<sup>th</sup> Ed., Essex: Pearson.

Saunders, M., Lewis, P., and Thornhill, A. (2015) '*Research methods for business students*'. New York : Pearson Education, 2015.

Schwartz, M. S., and Saiia, D. (2012) 'Should Firms go beyond profits'? Milton Friedman versus broad CSR. *Business and Society Review*, 117(1), 1–31.

Siltaoja, Marjo, Elisa (2006) 'Value Priorities as Combining Core Factors between CSR and Reputation: A Qualitative Study', *Journal of Business Ethics*, 68(1) 91.

Singh, R. and Mangat, N.S. (2013), '*Elements of survey* sampling'. Berlin: Springer Science and Business Media.

Sohn, Y. J., and Lariscy, R. W. (2015). 'A "buffer" or "boomerang?"— The role of corporate reputation in bad times'. *Communication Research*, *42(2)*, 237–259.

Sum, N.L. (2007), Articulation of 'New Constitutionalism' with 'New Ethicalism': *WalMartization and Corporate-State-Union-NGO Attempts to Bring CSR to Developing Countries*, Presented at the Conference on Business, Social Policy and Corporate Political Influence in Developing Countries, 12-13 November, 2007, Geneva, Switzerland.

Taylor, C. (2019). 'Corporate giving: do Irish companies make the effort'? Retrieved *from: <u>https://www.irishtimes.com/business/work/corporate-giving-do-irish-companies-make-the-effort-1.2400481</u>.* 

The Telegraph, (2019) 'Who is Bill Gates? Microsoft Founder, world's richest man and philanthropist'. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.telegraph.co.uk/technology/0/bill-gates/.</u>

Thomas, A.B (2004) '*Research skills for management studies*'. Routledge, New York.

Tinker, M. and Barnes, L. (2017) 'Corporate Social Responsibility Strategy and Its Influence Over Consumer Purchasing Decisions In Financial Institutions', *Annual International Conference on Accounting & Finance*, pp. 1–6.

Wagner, T., Lutz, R. J., & Weitz, B. A. (2009) 'Corporate hypocrisy: Overcoming the treat of inconsistent corporate social responsibility perceptions'. *Journal of Marketing* 73(6) 77-91.

Wilkins, J. P. and Campos, B. L. (2011). The Financial Crisis: Issues in Business, Finance and Global Economics. Hauppauge, N.Y.: Nova Science Publishers, Inc.

Winograd, M. and Hais, M. (2014), 'How Millennials Could Upend Wall Street and Corporate America'. *The Brookings Institution*. Washington, DC.

Yadav, R. S. *et al.* (2018) 'Perceived CSR and Corporate Reputation: The Mediating Role of Employee Trust', *Vikalpa: The Journal for Decision Makers*, 43(3), 139–151.

Yin, R.K, (2014) 'Case Study Research: Design and Method' (5th Ed). London: Sage.

### **APPENDICES**

### **APPENDIX ONE - CONSENT FORM**

TO UNDERSTAND IRISH MILLENNIALS PERCEPTION OF CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY IN RELATION TO A COMPANY'S IMAGE.

Consent to take part in research

• I..... voluntarily agree to participate in this research study.

. • I understand that even if I agree to participate now, I can withdraw at any time or refuse to answer any question without any consequences of any kind.

• I understand that I can withdraw permission to use data from my interview within two weeks after the interview, in which case the material will be deleted.

• I have had the purpose and nature of the study explained to me in writing and I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the study.

• I understand that participation involves answering questions and giving my personal perception on issues concerning corporate social responsibility and company reputation.

• I understand that I will not benefit directly from participating in this research.

• I agree to my interview being audio-recorded and transcribed.

• I understand that all information I provide for this study will be treated confidentially.

• I understand that in any report on the results of this research my identity will remain anonymous. This will be done by changing my name and disguising any details of my interview which may reveal my identity or the identity of people I speak about.

• I understand that disguised extracts from my interview may be quoted in the dissertation and a copy of which will be available to the National College Dublin library.

• I understand that if I inform the researcher that myself or someone else is at risk of harm they may have to report this to the relevant authorities - they will discuss this with me first but may be required to report with or without my permission.

• I understand that signed consent forms and original audio recordings will be retained in the researcher's storage and can only be accessed by him and his supervisor until the exam board confirms the results of the dissertation.

• I understand that a transcript of my interview in which all identifying information has been removed will be retained for two years from the date of the exam board approval of results.

• I understand that under freedom of information legalisation I am entitled to access the information I have provided at any time while it is in storage as specified above.

• I understand that I am free to contact any of the people involved in the research to seek further clarification and information.

-----

Signature of participant

Signature of researcher

I believe the participant is giving informed consent to participate in this study

-----

Signature of researcher

Date

------

Date

Date

------

# **APPENDIX TWO - INFORMATION SHEET**

## TITLE OF RESEARCH PROJECT:

TO UNDERSTAND IRISH MILLENNIALS PERCEPTION OF CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY IN RELATION TO A COMPANY'S IMAGE.

Dear Participant,

I would like to invite you to take part in a research study. Before you decide you need to unde

rstand why the research is being done and what it would involve for you. Please take time to read the following information carefully. Ask questions if anything you read is not clear or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether or not to take part.

#### WHAT IS THE STUDY ABOUT?

This study is about understanding Irish millennials perception on issues concerning corporate social responsibility and company image and is being carried out in fulfilment of a requirement for a Master of Science research project for the National College of Ireland.

#### WHAT WILL TAKING PART IN THE RESEARCH INVOLVE?

A face to face interview will be conducted asking for your perception on issues to do with corporate social responsibility and company reputation. This interview will be conducted at a quiet location in Dublin. During the interview, I will be taking notes and the interview will be recorded for reference in case I miss any part of the interview.

WHY YOU HAVE BEEN INVITED TO TAKE PART.

You have been selected for this interview because you meet the criteria set out in the title of this research paper which is to hear the perspectives of an Irish millennial.

DO YOU HAVE TO TAKE PART?

Participation in this research interview is completely voluntary and you have the right to refuse participation, refuse to answer any questions and withdraw at any time without any consequence whatsoever.

### POSSIBLE RISKS AND BENEFITS.

Hopefully this research paper will add to the body of knowledge on issues concerning corporate social responsibility and company image from an Irish millennials' perspective.

## CONFIDENTIALITY.

Your personal details will be kept private and will not be used in the written research study. All interview notes and recordings will be used for the purpose of the research project only. Non-anonymised data in the form of signed consent forms and audio recordings will be collected and retained as part of the research process. All consent forms and audio recordings will be securely stored.

#### INFORMATION PROTECTION.

Signed consent forms and original audio recordings will be retained and securely stored and will only be accessed by the researcher and his supervisor until after my degree has been conferred. A transcript of interviews in which all identifying information has been removed will be retained for a further two years after this.

### RESULTS OF THE STUDY.

Results of this study will be submitted to the National College of Ireland as part of a Master's Degree programme.

## FOR FURTHER INFORMATION.

For further information contact me on X17157030@student.ncirl.ie or my supervisor Dr Conor Nolan (conor.nolan@ncirl.ie) at National College Ireland.

THANK YOU.

# **APPENDIX THREE- RESEARCH QUESTIONAIRE**

- (1) What are the factors that influence a company's or organisations reputation?
- (2) What are your expectations of a company to you as a consumer and to the field/domain they operate in?
- (3) What relationship do you think exists between you as a customer and a company? EXPLAIN
- (4) Do you think the relationship you have with an organisation will determine its reputation? Explain
- (5) How do you understand or interpret CSR?
  - a. Can you think of any examples of a company/organisation engaging in CSR practices?
- (6) How would you describe the relationship or connection between CSR and a company's reputation?
- (7) How does corporate social responsibility play a role in an organisations reputation?
- (8) What do you think are the effects of practicing or not practicing CSR to an organisation?
- (9) What is your opinion on companies that were once involved in a corporate scandal and how do you relate to them?
- (10) What are your views on companies that are involved in CSR practices but get involved in a corporate scandal?
- (11) How do you think an organisation can use CSR to enhance its reputation?

Compiled from papers by: Hillenbrand and Money, (2007), Siltaoja M. Elise (2006), Liu, Mao and Deng (2017) and Tinker, Barnes and Wilson (2017).